#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re A.R., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

# ALAMEDA COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY,

Petitioner and Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

M.B.,

Objector and Appellant.

S260928

Court of Appeal Case No. A158143

(Alameda County Superior Court No. JD-028398-02)

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Unpublished Order by the Court of Appeal First District, Division One Filed January 21, 2020

> JONATHAN SOGLIN Executive Director

LOUISE E. COLLARI (Bar No. 156244) Staff Attorney First District Appellate Project 475 Fourteenth Street, Suite 650 Oakland, CA 94612 Telephone: (415) 495-3119 Email: lcollari@fdap.org

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Does a parent in a juvenile dependency case have the right to challenge her counsel's failure to file a timely notice of appeal from an order terminating her parental rights under Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 366.26? (See Welf. & Inst. Code, § 317.5, subd. (a); *In re Kristin H.* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1635 [ineffective assistance of counsel claim in dependency proceeding brought on a petition for writ of habeas corpus].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless specified otherwise.

2. If so, what are the proper procedures for raising such a claim?

#### INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case is one of the most basic tenets of our judicial system: access to justice. This Court must determine whether indigent parents in juvenile dependency proceedings, who often have the fewest resources and who are facing the irreversible destruction of their relationship with their child, will be denied full access to the judicial system simply because their appointed counsel failed to timely file a notice of appeal despite agreeing to do so.

Mother contends that reason, justice, and fairness compel a conclusion that ensures a parent's fundamental rights are not infringed without a full and fair adjudication and appellate review of the juvenile court's decision. As Justice Ginsberg noted, "[w]e place decrees forever terminating parental rights in the category of cases in which the State may not 'bolt the door to equal justice'" recognizing that "parental termination decrees are among the most severe forms of state action." (*M.L.B. v. S.L.J.* (1996) 519 U.S. 102, 105, 124.)

Parents have an interest in the accuracy and justice of the juvenile court's decision to terminate parental rights. Their right to appeal a juvenile court's dispositional orders and all subsequent orders, including from the termination of parental rights, is vital to the integrity of the juvenile dependency system. The "state's exclusive power to initiate a dependency proceeding

does not equate to an exclusive interest in the outcome of the proceeding." (*In re Lauren P.* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 763, 770.)

In the criminal context, the constructive filing doctrine was originally developed to protect incarcerated pro per defendants from state interference of the right to appeal the judgment in their criminal cases. Over the years, this Court has significantly expanded the doctrine. First, to criminal defendants whose efforts to appeal were frustrated by the negligence of their own trial attorneys, and then to incarcerated pro per defendants pursuing appeals in medical malpractice civil suits. The doctrine has even been extended to protect the People's right to appeal a court's decision.

Appellate courts now routinely grant relief under the constructive filing doctrine to criminal defendants who are able to establish 1) diligence in requesting that their trial attorney file a notice of appeal for them, 2) justifiable reliance on their attorney's promise to file a notice of appeal, and 3) ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to timely file the notice of appeal. However, despite the fundamental rights at stake, the door to equal justice has been bolted shut to parents in juvenile dependency proceedings who are capable of making the same showing.

As this Court noted in *Silverbrand v. County of Los Angeles* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 106, the constructive filing doctrine may be extended when "there are compelling reasons to do so" to ensure "equality of access to our courts." (*Id.* at pp. 121, 128.) It is important to note that the goal of the doctrine has never been to

extend the time to file a notice of appeal. Rather, its focus has been to "redefine the point at which notice is deemed filed" in line with reason, fairness, and justice. (*Id.* at p. 126.)

Parents, children, and the state share a compelling interest in the accuracy of the juvenile court's decision at the section 366.26 hearing. Extending the protections of the constructive filing doctrine to parents in juvenile dependency proceedings will ensure that a decision by the state to deprive a parent of their fundamental interest in the care, custody, and control of their child is free from prejudicial error. Similar to litigants in other types of proceedings, parents in juvenile dependency proceedings are entitled to adequate, effective, and meaningful access to the appellate courts. Disallowing reliance on the constructive filing doctrine in the dependency context cannot be reconciled with this right.

It is no less reasonable for parents in dependency proceedings to rely on their attorneys to follow through on their promise to file a timely notice of appeal than it is for criminal defendants to do the same. Therefore, this Court should hold that the constructive filing doctrine applies when a parent in a juvenile dependency proceeding asks their attorney to file a notice of appeal from the order terminating parental rights within the sixty-day requirement, the attorney agrees to do so, but then fails to carry out this simple task.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Agency filed a section 300 petition, A.R. was adjudged a dependent of the court, and returned to mother with family maintenance services.

On June 20, 2017, the Alameda County Social Services Agency (hereinafter "Agency") filed a section 300 petition pursuant to subdivisions (b) [failure to protect] and (g) [no provision for support] on behalf of then ten-month-old A.R. (Aug CT 4.) At the time the petition was filed, mother was seventeen years old and previously had been a dependent child herself.<sup>2</sup> (Aug CT 6, 12.) A.R. was detained and placed in foster care. (Aug CT 17, 27.)

An amended petition was sustained on September 21, 2017, and A.R. was found to be a person described by section 300, subdivision (b). The amended petition stated mother had mental health concerns, such as depression, that affected her ability to provide regular care, supervision, and protection for her daughter. On or about June 14, 2017, mother attempted suicide by taking pills while the child was in the home with the maternal great-grandmother and was subsequently hospitalized. (Aug CT 114-117.) The court adjudged A.R. a dependent of the court and returned her to mother's care with family maintenance services. (Aug CT 118-119.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mother's own dependency case was terminated on December 29, 2011, when mother was eleven years old, and she was placed in a legal guardianship with her maternal grandmother. (Aug CT 12.)

2. A section 387 petition was filed, A.R. was detained, and mother received family reunification services.

On February 13, 2018, the Agency filed a section 387 supplemental petition stating the previous disposition had not been effective in protecting the child. (1CT 11-12.) Specifically, the petition alleged that on January 5, 2018, mother contacted the social worker and stated, although it was a difficult decision, she could not continue caring for A.R. and finish high school. Mother was in the eleventh grade and had not been able to fully participate in her family maintenance case plan objectives due to her school responsibilities. A.R. was detained on February 14, and continued in her placement with her former foster mother. (1CT 33; 2/21/19 RT 5.)

The juvenile court found the section 387 petition to be true at the February 28, 2018 jurisdictional hearing and family reunification services were ordered for mother. (1CT 81-82; 2/28/18 RT 5, 7.)

At the time of the six-month review hearing in October 2018, the Agency recommended terminating reunification services to mother. (1CT 132.) At the review hearing, new counsel was appointed to represent mother.<sup>3</sup> Counsel requested a continuance, which was granted. (1CT 138-139; 10/2/18 RT 3.) In discussing the request for a continuance, the juvenile court noted:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The contract between Juvenile Dependency Counselors and the Judicial Council expired on August 31, 2018. East Bay Family Defenders was awarded the contract beginning September 1, 2018. (1CT 125, 128.)

So I, of course, want your clients to be properly represented, but I know it's just not this Court but all the Dependency Courts are having problems.

We were told when you got the contract, and instead of JVC [sic], they had lawyers for this particular department. They were scattered sometimes. We were told that lawyers would be specifically assigned to this department. And I hear on a daily basis that lawyers may have to cover two courts. Lawyers may have to cover three courts.

#### (10/2/18 RT 6.)

The matter was continued to October 17, 2018. At that hearing, after the court found reasonable services had been provided and mother's progress had been minimal, it terminated reunification services to mother. (1CT 140-141; 10/17/18 RT 20.) Visitation was ordered to continue as frequently as possible consistent with A.R.'s well-being. (1CT 141.)

Mother filed a petition for extraordinary writ contending the Agency failed to comply with the notice requirements of the Indian Child Welfare Act. Division One of the First District Court of Appeal denied the petition on the merits (A155682). (1CT 174-181.)

3. Mother's parental rights were terminated at the section 366.26 hearing.

The Agency's February 6, 2019 section 366.26 report recommended the matter be continued for thirty days for a Child and Family Team Meeting to finalize the permanent plan. (1CT 184.) The Agency submitted an addendum report dated February 6, 2019 which stated that a Child and Family Team meeting was held on January 25, 2019 and, "after much discussion," mother,

who had appeared at the meeting without counsel, reportedly had agreed with adoption. (1CT 248.)

At the February 6, 2019 hearing, counsel for mother requested a continuance expressing her concerns about the Child and Family Team meeting and stating mother was not in agreement with adoption. The court found good cause for a continuance. (2/6/19 RT 3.) The court ordered the visits every other weekend to continue and for the Agency to provide mother and A.R. with one additional day per month of visitation. (1CT 279; 2/6/19 RT 7.)

On April 8, 2019, mother filed a request for change of court order pursuant to section 388 seeking return of A.R. or reinstatement of family reunification services. (2CT 369-370.) The petition alleged that mother had developed positive support systems with friends and family, participated in medical/psychological treatment, including individual counseling, showed that she knew age-appropriate behavior for her child, practiced safety planning during a moment of crisis, and participated in a parenting education course. The petition argued that A.R. was bonded with her mother and extended maternal family and that it was in her best interests these bonds be preserved. (2CT 370.)

On April 17, 2019, the court ordered an evidentiary hearing on mother's petition. (2CT 390; 4/17/19 RT 11-12.)

The Agency submitted a memorandum dated June 12, 2019 recommending mother's petition for modification be denied and parental rights be terminated. (2CT 409, 413-414.)

Mother was not present<sup>4</sup> at the June 12, 2019 hearing but was represented by counsel.<sup>5</sup> (6/12/19 RT 1.) After hearing argument, the court denied mother's petition for modification, identified adoption as the permanent plan for A.R., and terminated mother's parental rights. (2CT 428-430; 6/12/19 RT 3, 7, 9-10.) The court stated the order could be appealed by filing a notice of appeal within sixty days and counsel for the parent "shall be deemed discharged at the expiration of the time allowed for appeal." (6/12/19 RT 10.)

4. Mother's efforts to appeal the juvenile court's decision terminating her parental rights.

Soon after the June 12th hearing, mother contacted her social worker at East Bay Family Defenders to inquire as to the outcome of the hearing. (Declaration of Mother attached to Appellant's Application for Relief from Default Filed in the Court of Appeal on December 27, 2019 (hereinafter Mother's

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mother had been either present or available by phone for the prior section 388 and section 366.26 hearings. (2/6/19 RT1, 1CT 279; 3/19/19 RT 1; 3/20/19 RT 1, 2CT 345; 4/8/19 RT 1 [not present because at school but available by phone], 2CT 386; 4/17/19 RT 1, 2CT 391; 4/29/20 RT 1. 2CT 395.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> That day, mother informed her counsel's supervisor that she could not attend the hearing due to a severe asthma attack. Mother then rushed to the emergency room at Highland Hospital in Oakland, California where she received a treatment to stabilize her breathing. (Mother's Declaration.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> There was no mention in the record on appeal that mother was informed in writing of her right to file a notice of appeal. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 5.590(a) [if parent is not present at a contested hearing, the advisement of right to appeal must be made by the clerk of the court by first-class mail to the last known address of the party or by electronic service].)

Declaration).) Mother was told her parental rights were terminated and that she had a right to appeal that decision. Mother then contacted her court-appointed attorney and informed her attorney that she wanted to appeal the juvenile court's order. (*Ibid.*)

Mother's court-appointed attorney was informed on June 17, five days after the section 366.26 hearing, that mother wished to appeal from the juvenile court's findings and orders. (Declaration of Rita Rodriguez attached to Appellant's Application for Relief from Default filed in the Court of Appeal on December 27, 2019 (hereinafter Counsel's Declaration).) It was counsel's usual practice to file a notice of appeal within one or two days of learning of a client's desire to appeal and she assumed she had done so. Unfortunately, despite mother's request, her court-appointed attorney forgot to file the notice of appeal within the sixty-day statutory time limit. (*Ibid.*)

On August 14, 2019, mother's court-appointed attorney realized she had failed to file the notice of appeal as requested. She filed the notice of appeal the next day, three days after the statutory deadline. (Counsel's Declaration.) The notice of appeal was lodged with the Court of Appeal on August 23, 2019 and assigned case number A158143. The record on appeal was prepared and filed with the Court of Appeal on October 29, 2019, and appellate counsel was appointed to represent mother that same day. (https://appellatecases.courtinfo. ca.gov/search/case/dockets.cfm?dist=1&doc\_id=2295478&doc\_no=A158143&request\_token=NiIwLSEmXkw4WzBRSSFNTE1IMEQ6UVxfJiBeQz5TQ

CAgCg%3D%3D (hereinafter *In re A.R.*, Court of Appeal Docket, A158143).)

On December 27, 2019, appellate counsel for mother filed an application for relief from default along with her opening brief, which raised issues relating to the denial of her section 388 petition for modification and the termination of her parental rights. On January 9, 2020, counsel for the Agency filed an opposition to mother's application for relief from default arguing that the appeal should be dismissed. (*In re A.R.*, Court of Appeal Docket, A158143.)

On January 21, 2020, the Court of Appeal denied mother's application for relief from default and declined to address the issues raised in mother's appeal stating,

...[T]he notice of appeal was untimely because it was filed more than 60 days after the order appealed. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.406(a)(1). She argues that she should be relieved from default because, through no fault of her own, her trial counsel inadvertently failed to file a notice of appeal.... Mother's application is denied. Mother relies on the principle that notices of appeal must be liberally construed, but none of the authorities she cites support extending the deadline to file a notice of appeal. Specifically, although mother does not explicitly rely on this ground, she is not entitled to relief based on the doctrine of constructive filing, under which a late filed notice of appeal will be deemed timely filed if the appellant is incarcerated and the delay results through no fault of his or her own. (See *In re Benoit* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 72, 86.) That doctrine generally does not apply in dependency cases, and the court declines to apply it here. (See In re Ricky H. (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 552, 560; see also *In re A.M.* (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 319, 322.) Because the notice of appeal was untimely, the court lacks jurisdiction, and the appeal is dismissed.

(In re A.R. Court Order, January 21, 2020, A158143.)

On February 5, 2020, mother filed a petition for rehearing arguing she was entitled to relief under the constructive filing doctrine, which was denied by the Court on February 7. (*In re A.R.*, Court of Appeal Docket, A158143.) On February 7, 2020, mother filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Court of Appeal (A159518). (*In re M.B. on Habeas Corpus*, Court of Appeal Docket, A158143.) On March 4, 2020, the Court denied mother's petition for writ of habeas corpus without prejudice to refile the petition in the Alameda County Superior Court. The Court stated mother had not demonstrated that she exhausted her habeas corpus remedy in the juvenile court prior to seeking relief from the Court of Appeal. (*Ibid.*) Mother filed, but did not serve, the petition for writ of habeas corpus on or about March 6, 2020 in the Alameda County superior court.

Mother's petition for review was filed with this Court on February 28, 2020 and was granted on May 15, 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> https://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search/case/main

CaseScreen.cfm?dist=1&doc\_id=2311780&doc\_no=A159518&request\_token=NiIwLSEmXkw4WyBNSCJdXE1IIFQ6UVxfJiBOUztRMCAgCg%3D%3D

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Parents In Juvenile Dependency Proceedings Are Entitled To Effective Assistance Of Counsel Including With Respect To The Filing Of A Timely Notice Of Appeal.

# A. Due Process Protections Apply To Dependency Proceedings.

The goals of the California dependency system are to ensure the dual purposes of a child's safety, protection, and physical and emotional well-being and, when possible, to preserve and strengthen the family. (§§ 202, 300.2, 16501.1(a); *In re Jody R.* (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 1615, 1623.) The juvenile court must balance the fundamental interests of a child in belonging to a family unit, of the right to be safe from abuse and neglect, and to have a stable, permanent placement (*In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 306) with the fundamental rights of the parents to maintain their essential and basic right to the care, custody, management, and companionship of their children. (*Lassiter v. Department of Social Services* (1981) 452 U.S. 18, 27.)

This Court has described dependency proceedings as "civil in nature" designed not to punish the parent but to protect the child. (See *In re Malinda S.* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 368, 384.)<sup>8</sup> The proceedings are non-criminal but they differ from civil actions as they affect the fundamental rights of parents and children. (*In re* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dependency proceedings are "special proceedings with their own set of rules, governed, in general, by the Welfare and Institutions Code." (*In re Chantal S.* (1996) 13 Cal. 4th 196, 200; § 300 et seq.; Cal Rules of Court, rule 5.500 et seq.)

*Kristin H.*, *supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th 1635, 1661-1662.) However, the adversarial nature of the proceedings cannot be overlooked.

In most dependency matters the focus is against the parent and the prospect faced is the drastic result of loss of his child. Although legal scholars may deemphasize the adversary nature of dependency proceedings and characterize the removal of the child from parental custody as nonpunitive action in the best interests of the child, most parents would view the loss of custody as dire punishment.

(Lois R. v. Superior Court (1971) 19 Cal.App.3d 895, 901.) Furthermore, the reality is that the "state's ability to assemble its case almost inevitably dwarfs the parents' ability to mount a defense." (Santosky v. Kramer (1982) 455 U.S. 745, 763.)

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