## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re A.R., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

Supreme Court Case No. **S260928** 

#### ALAMEDA COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY,

Petitioner and Respondent,

vs.

Alameda Superior Court Case

No. JD-028398-02

Court of Appeals Case No.

A158143

**M.B.**,

Objector and Appellant.

After an Unpublished Order by the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division One, Filed January 21, 2020

Affirming an Order of the Superior Court of Alameda County Superior Court, Honorable Charles Smiley, III

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DONNA R. ZIEGLER [142415]

County Counsel

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

under [former Civil Code] section 232," and noting the danger of imperiling adoption proceedings, the court found it inappropriate to extend the doctrine of constructive filing to appeals involving the termination of parental rights. (*In re A.M., supra,* 216 Cal.App.3d at p. 322.)

The *Issac J.* court agreed that the doctrine of constructive filing should not be indiscriminately extended to cases involving the termination of parental rights. Rightly, the court found that because there is a due process right to counsel there is an accompanying right to effective assistance of counsel and considered whether because parents have a right to the effective assistance of counsel impacts whether the doctrine of constructive of filing should be applicable to termination of parental rights orders. (*Isaac J.*, *supra* 4 0Cal.App.4th at pp. 531-32.) The court acknowledged that "to make the guarantee of counsel genuine, a parent must be permitted to raise ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal, it may very plausibly be argued that he must be given a concomitant right to pursue his appellate rights despite his attorney's inexcusable failure to perfect the appeal in a timely fashion." (*Id.* at 532.) However, the court found that when the parent's interest and the minor's interest collide, the minor's interest in finality should prevail. (*Id.*)

We concede that the result will be harsh in some cases, and may be so here. We have considered the desirability of a more flexible standard, but can formulate no rules for the applicability of such a standard under which we could confidently predict that more good would be done than harm. In reviewing an application, the appellate court would be in a poor position to evaluate the merits of the proposed appeal, or the effect of the delay on the child. In some cases, such as this one, the parent may have acted diligently and been the victim of attorney incompetence—but this should not require relief if the judgment appears sound and the child is happily placed. Nor should a

dilatory parent be allowed to proceed, if the appellate court believes, on limited information, that some error occurred at trial. Further, the court is uninformed of the child's current circumstances, and cannot resolve contradictory assertions by the parties.

(*Issac J.*, *supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 534.)

Just last year, the Court of Appeal, Fourth District confronted the issue of an untimely notice of appeal in *In re J.A.* (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 49. In that case, Mother was appealing the jurisdiction and disposition orders of the juvenile court but filed her notice of appeal sixteen months after the case was dismissed. (*In re J.A.*, *supra*, 43 Cal.App.5th at p. 51.) Mother argued that the untimeliness of her appeal should be excused because the court failed to provide a writ or appeal advisement. (*Id.* at 55.) The appellate court held that, there is "simply no authority for the proposition that a parent may reopen a long closed dependency to relitigate issues of jurisdiction and disposition based on a violation of rule 5.590." (In re J.A., supra 43 Cal.App.5th at p. 56.) Put another way, even when the juvenile court, a state actor, fails a parent by violating rules of court put in place precisely to ensure that parents have the ability to take an appeal, the policy goal of ensuring that juvenile orders are final after the time for appeal has passed remains paramount. "The purpose of appeal deadlines is to promote the finality of judicial decisions and provide security to the litigating parties. Nowhere is this purpose more crucial than in dependency cases, where the paramount consideration is child welfare." (*Id.* at 56 [citing In re Marilyn H. (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 308].)

Authorizing parents to attack a final termination order by means of challenging ineffective of assistance of counsel after the time for appeal has lapsed would "sabotage the apparent legislative intention to expediate dependency cases and subordinate, to the extent consistent with

fundamental fairness, the parent's right of appeal to the interests of the child and state." (*In re Meranda P.* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1143, 1156 [citing *In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 310].) Time and again this Court has held that the compelling interest in providing stable, permanent homes for children who have been removed from parental custody and for whom reunification efforts with their parents have been unsuccessful requires "the court to concentrate its efforts, once reunification services have been terminated, on the child's placement and well-being, rather than on a parent's challenge to a custody order." (*In re Marilyn H., supra, 5* Cal.4th at p. 307.) In order to uphold that compelling legislative interest, this Court must continue to affirm that a failure to file a timely notice of appeal is fatal to a parent's claim regardless of the reason for the failure.

# 3. Expanding the Constructive Filing Doctrine Would Overburden Dependency Courts

Finally, in contrast with the constructive filing doctrine in the prison context, if the doctrine were expanded to include parents in a juvenile dependency proceeding, it would create an administrative nightmare. As this Court previously emphasized, the prison delivery rule advanced judicial economy by holding that the notice of appeal was constructively filed on the day that the prisoner delivered it to the prison authorities without a showing that it was given sufficiently in advance for the mail to get to the clerk's office. (*Silverbrand, supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 119 [quoting *In re Jordan, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 129, italics omitted].) The Court specifically stated:

...application of such an amorphous standard, on a case-by-case basis, would impose an extreme burden upon the courts. In light of the uncertainty involved in mail delivery, the length of time 'normally' needed to ensure timely delivery is subject to abridgment by

numerous variables beyond the prisoner's control.... In view of the increased demands upon our appellate courts, it is not the best use of judicial resources to require those courts in such situations to make determinations as to whether notices of appeal transmitted by individual prisoners were processed in the 'normal course' of events.

(*Id.* [quoting *In re Jordan, supra,* 4 Cal.4th at 129-30].)

In fact, the *Silverbrand* court found that the administrative benefits of the prison-delivery rule to civil cases to be persuasive support to apply the bright-line rule apply to both civil and criminal appeals filed by self-represented inmates in California's congested courts. (*Id.* at 120.) The Court sought to avoid, "uncertainty for court clerks" and "time-consuming collateral litigation in the appellate courts over nonsubstantive issues." (*Id.*)

While in the prison context, the mailing system is monitored in such a way that it is a simple administrative task to determine when a prisoner personally delivered to prison authorities a notice of appeal, there is no analog in dependency, especially if a parent is contending that their counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel. Instead, to determine whether to consider the notice of appeal "constructively filed," there would be the exact uncertainty for court clerks and time-consuming collateral litigation that this Court has previously sought to avoid. As even Appellant pointed out, in Section 366.26 fast-track appeals, the typical appellate process may take a year or more to resolve. (AOB at 58.) Importing the doctrine of constructive filing into dependency would cause continued delay in the finalization of the termination of parental rights. Even in this case, the appellate court would have to review Mother and her trial counsel's declarations which allege that Mother informed her trial counsel that she wanted to appeal within the time period to appeal. This type of collateral

litigation would cripple the already overburdened and underfunded juvenile dependency system.

D. If This Court were to Reverse Precedent and Sound Public Policy to Permit a Parent to Challenge Ineffective Assistance of Counsel for the Untimely Filing of a Notice of Appeal, It Must Impose a Heightened Standard

One must remember that there are significant safeguards built into the dependency system, which tend to work against the wrongful termination of parental rights, even if a parent is poorly represented. The dependency scheme is a "remarkable system of checks and balances." (In re Andrew B. (1995) 40 Cal. App. 4th 825, 865.) "The number and quality of the judicial findings that are necessary preconditions to termination convey very powerfully to the fact finder the subjective certainty about parental unfitness and detriment required before the court may even consider ending the relationship between natural parent and child." (Cynthia D. v. Superior Court of San Diego County (1993) 5 Cal.4th 242, 255-56.) "[T]hat a parent lacked counsel or had the services of incompetent counsel does not mean the parent was in fact harmed as a consequence. Neither the absence nor the blunder of appointed counsel alone entitles the parent to obtain the appellate relief he or she seeks." (Meranda P., supra, 56 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1152-53.) Because of these safeguards and the compelling interest in finality of juvenile dependency proceedings, if the Court were to reverse precedent and allow a challenge, it must impose a heightened standard.

# 1. A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is the Proper Procedure for Asserting an Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claim in Juvenile Dependency Proceedings

Appellant asserts that a parent in a juvenile dependency case should be able to challenge her counsel's failure to file a timely notice of appeal from an order terminating her parental rights under Section 366.26 through a simple noticed motion. However, a simple noticed motion is insufficient for the showing that must be required to potentially destabilize the placement for a dependent minor.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in a dependency matter is generally cognizable in the Court of Appeal on a petition for writ of habeas corpus. (In re Kristin H., supra 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1658-59.) That is because habeas corpus may be "used in various types of child custody matters." (See, e.g., In re Darlice C. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 459, 466 [parent is "entitled to seek review of the termination order by petition for writ of habeas corpus"]; In re Carrie M. (2001) 90 Cal. App. 4th 530, 535.) The "writ will lie when a person entitled to custody of a minor child is denied possession thereof." (In re Barr (1952) 39 Cal.2d 25, 27; cf., Alexander S., supra, 44 Cal.3d at pp. 867-68.) Because habeas petitions have been recognized as proper vehicles for raising claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in dependency proceedings, (In re Kristin H., supra, 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1658, 1663; *In re Carrie M., supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at pp. 533-34), if the Court were to allow a parent to challenge her counsel's failure to file a timely notice of appeal from an order terminating her parental rights under Section 366.26, it must do so through a habeas petition.

Regardless of the nature of the proceeding in which the habeas petition arises, the court "must abide by the procedures set forth in Penal Code sections 1473 through 1508." (*Alexander S., supra,* 44 Cal.3d at p.

865.) Under those statutes, the "habeas corpus proceeding begins with the filing of a verified petition for a writ of habeas corpus." (*People v. Romero* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 728, 737, as modified on denial of reh'g (Jan. 5, 1995).) This is an important distinction between a habeas petition and a motion. The habeas petition must be verified. If the court determines that the petition does not state a prima facie case for relief or that the claims are all procedurally barred, the court will deny the petition outright as a summary denial. (*Id.* at 737.) Whenever "a habeas corpus petition is sufficient on its face (that is, the petition states a prima facie case on a claim that is not procedurally barred), the court is obligated by statute to issue a writ of habeas corpus." (*Id.*) Alternatively, the court may issue an order to show cause. (*Id.* at 738.) The writ or order to show cause "is the means by which issues are joined (through the return and traverse) and the need for an evidentiary hearing determined." (*People v. Romero, supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 740.)

The habeas statutes also address the conduct of hearings. (*See* Pen. Code, §§ 1483, 1484.) The court has "full power and authority to require and compel the attendance of witnesses, by process of subpoena and attachment, and to do and perform all other acts and things necessary to a full and fair hearing and determination of the case." (Pen. Code, § 1484.) "Once the court has issued a writ of habeas corpus it has the power to dispose of the matter 'as the justice of the case may require." (*In re Brindle* (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 660, 669 [quoting Pen. Code, § 1484].) These additional safeguards are not necessarily available if a parent need only file a motion to challenge her counsel's failure to file a timely notice of appeal from an order terminating her parental rights.

Additionally, a writ petition seeking extraordinary relief must be filed within a reasonable time. (*Kristin H., supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th at p.

1659.) Untimeliness may in many cases preclude review of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (*See, e.g., In re Issac J., supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 534.) "Nowhere is timeliness more important than in a dependency proceeding where a delay of months may seem like 'forever' to a young child." (*Kristin H., supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th at p. 1667 [citing *In re Micah S.* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 557, 566 (conc. opn. of Brauer, J.).] In addition to a timely filed petition, the parent must also show diligence in attempting to endure that the notice of appeal was filed. (*In re Benoit, supra*, 10 Cal.3d at p. 89.)

In cases where the competence of counsel is at issue, "there is an opportunity in an evidentiary hearing to have trial counsel fully describe his or her reasons for acting or failing to act in the manner complained of." (*People v. Pope* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 412, 426.) To assert a claim of ineffective assistance, a petitioner must allege that the performance of trial or appellate counsel fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms and was therefore deficient. He or she must also claim there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. (*In re Cody R.* (2018) 30 Cal.App.5th 381, 394, as modified (Jan. 7, 2019) [citing *Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 693-94; *People v. Dowdell* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1388, 1407-08)].)

In re Kristin H. counsels that a violation of a statutory right to counsel is properly reviewed under the harmless error test enunciated in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836. (*In re Kristin H., supra,* 46 Cal.App.4th 1635). (*See, e.g., In re Justin L.* (1987) 188 Cal.App.3d 1068, 1077 [concerning statutory right to self-representation]; *In re Nalani C.* (1988) 99 Cal.App.3d 1017; *In re Ronald R.* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1186.) Therefore, the parent must demonstrate that it is "reasonably probable that a

result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error." (*Kristin H., supra*, 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1667-68 [quoting *People v. Watson, supra*, 46 Cal.2d at p. 836].) Thus, a parent must show both that his or her trial counsel was deficient and, that if the notice of appeal had been timely filed, it was reasonably probable it would succeed. This additional requirement would ensure that a meritless appeal would not additionally delay permanence for a dependent minor.

# 2. Under the Petition for Writ of Habeas Standard, Mother's Claim Would Fail

If Mother's and her trial counsel's declarations are to be believed, Mother's trial counsel was informed that Mother wanted to appeal the juvenile court's termination of her parental rights and failed to file a timely notice of appeal. Even if true, that fact that there was ineffective assistance of counsel does not end the inquiry. Mother must then show that if the appeal was not dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, and the appellate court permitted her appeal to go forward, that it would be reasonably probable that she would get a more favorable result. (*Kristin H., supra* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1667-68.) Essentially, Mother must show a likelihood of success of her appeal. Here, Mother is unable to make that showing.

## a. Mother's Arguments Regarding Her Section 388 Petition are Factually Incorrect

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